Orthodox Church of St. Michael the Archangel, Turzańsk
In the valley of the Osława River (south of Lesko and Zagórze), we can still find a couple of unique, historic complexes of wooden Orthodox architecture. Osława churches were built in the 19th century and given an extremely original architectural form, specific only to the area of the ethnographic and historical Lemko-Boyko borderline. In recent years, we lost the church in Komańcza to a fire. The temple has been reconstructed, but its painting decoration (panel and wall painting) was consumed by fire. The Orthodox Church of St. Michael the Archangel in Turzańsk (1801-1803) is undoubtedly one of the most precious ones of its kind. This type of construction originates from much older building traditions of the eastern Lemko region, which today is represented by only two preserved churches – in Bałucianka and Chyrowa. These temples stand out with their eight-part, structural vaults that cannot be found in other sacred buildings of the western Lemko region. The unique value of the Turzańsk church for cultural heritage also lies in its extensive cycle of wall paintings with original iconography, which, apart from conveying its basic message of religious nature, also teaches about the history of the region and the everyday life of its inhabitants.

The village of Turzańsk was founded under Vlach law in 1514. The Orthodox church was mentioned in historical sources as early as 1526. The existing temple was erected in the years 1801 -1803 as a three-part temple with the sacristy from the north. In 1817, a wooden belfry was built near the church. In 1836, the church’s sanctuary gained another, southern, sacristy (which gave both of them the present twin form) and from the west, a porch (vestibule) was added at the matroneum. The church was renovated in 1898 and 1913 when the shingle roofs were covered with sheet metal.

Originally, the church was the Greek Catholic Church of St. Michael the Archangel and belonged to the Deanery of Jaśliska. After the First World War, it became part of the Łupków Deanery. The parish in Turzańsk had its branch in nearby Rzepedź – the Church of Saint Nicholas. After 1947, the abandoned temple was briefly taken over by the Roman Catholic church. Since 1961, it has been an Orthodox parish church dedicated to the previous saint.

The Orthodox church complex is located on a hill overlooking the village. It is a church oriented east with its sanctuary. There is a free-standing wooden belfry on the church’s axis, located from the west. In the churchyard, fenced with a broken stone wall, there is a cemetery with some historic tombstones.

The Orthodox church in Turzańsk is made of wood; it is a three-part, axial, log building, with a three-sided sanctuary and a pair of twin three-sided sacristies – pastophoria (from the north and south) and a post-and-beam porch on the width of the matroneum (in the west). The nave and matroneum (pritvor) are on a plan similar to a square. The nave is wider than the adjacent matroneum and sanctuary. There is an oak ground beam on a stone foundation. Logs in the corner joints are made of softwood. The corner joints of the walls of the sanctuary, nave, matroneum, and sacristy are of equal height. Inside, above the sanctuary, the nave and the matroneum, are ‘cut’ eight-part domes on pendentives (triangular fields in the corners, permitting the placement of an octagonal dome over a rectangular room). The other rooms have flat ceilings. The church has a multi-part roof with a common ridge and double eaves. On the roof ridge, there are three large, spherical towers for ridge turrets with blacksmith's crosses, which accentuate the main internal spaces. The sacristies are covered with pyramidal roofs topped with lower, spherical ridge turrets. The ground beams are covered with a narrow apron topped with sheet metal. All external wall surfaces are boarded with vertical planks. The roof slopes are covered with sheet metal. In the western part of the matroneum, there is a choir. There are jamb-like portals and the windows were enlarged in 1913. The entrance to the church from the west leads through the matroneum, preceded by stone stairs. There is wood flooring. The interior walls are decorated with figural-ornamental wall polychrome from 1898, which was made on the previous layer of paintings from the early 19th century. The basic equipment of the church comes from the beginning of the 19th century and was repainted in the years 1895-1898, including the iconostasis, prestol (the main altar mensa located in the middle of the sanctuary) and zhertvennik (also proskomidijnik; mensa at the north wall of the sanctuary, used in the first part of the Liturgy - Preparation of the Gifts).

The free-standing church belfry is a wooden, post-and-beam building with an interior converging wall, three-stories, and vertical planks. There is a pyramidal roof with a spherical profile, crowned with a spherical tower with a blind lantern and an iron forged cross. There are roofs with shallow eaves at the height of each floor. The ground beam is covered with apron flashing. The roof slopes are covered with sheet metal. The two top floors, intended for hanging the bells, have small windows cut in the boarding. Entrance to the belfry is from the east.The figural wall paintings inside the church are a natural development and complement the program inscribed in the iconostasis. They were created in 1898 by Josyf Bukowczyk, commissioned by the parish priest, Henrych Polansko (according to the foundation inscription). They are a unique example of incorporating elements of folk tradition into religious painting. The author of the wall polychrome renewed (repainted) the iconostasis and prestol (the altar in the sanctuary) in 1895. He is also known as the creator of wall polychrome in nearby churches in Rzepedź and Radoszyce. Research (e.g. x-ray photography) has confirmed that Turzańsk has some well-preserved paintings from the early 19th century under the paintings of Bukowczyk (including the composition of the Foot Washing on the antependium of the prestol and the older cycles of Deesis and Prophets in the iconostasis).
Figural and ornamental polychrome covers all the surfaces of walls, ceilings and balustrades in the pritvor (matroneum), nave and sanctuary. It is made using the oil technique on wooden corner joints and on vaults and ceilings. Under the ground layer, joints of beams and boards are glued with canvas strips. The said paintings are the second layer of polychrome in chronological order. The original one (with architectural and ornamental motifs) comes from the early 19th century and was made using the tempera technique.

Bukowczyk's paintings form a coherent iconographic program (compare the drawing scheme of the arrangement of the interior paintings), complementing the theme developed in the panel paintings that can be found in the church as well. The set of monumental paintings consists of figural depictions in the picture areas separated by straight, striped borders (matroneum, nave) and striped borders with floral and geometric ornaments (sanctuary), as well as trompe-l'œil (including plinths, friezes, pilasters, and columns) highlighting the tectonics of individual interiors. All inscriptions describing the themes of painting depictions and the foundation inscription are written in Cyrillic.

On the west wall of the sanctuary (on the reverse of the sovereign icon of Christ Pantocrator), there is a foundation inscription reading: In praise of the Holy Trinity! The main prestol / altar / built in 1895. This Orthodox church was painted and gilded by Mr. Iosyf Bukowczyk during the time of the Reverend Father Henrych Polansky in 1898.
In the octagonal painting area on the ceiling of the "cut" dome in the pritvor (matroneum), there is a representation of the Intercession of the Theotokos (Pokrov), in a variant showing the Mother of God as the Guardian and Patroness of Rus. In the upper part of the painting, the Theotokos is shown in full length, on a cloud with a spread coat and veil. Below, in the center of the composition, we have two kneeling characters: Saints Vladimir the Great and Hilarion of Kiev; behind them, there are Saints Duchess Olga and Nestor the Chronicler (next to the deacon holding an episcopal attribute). In the background, there are figures embodying the nation. Between them, on the left hand of the Theotokos, there are figures of Saints Anthony and Theodosius of Kiev and the Holy Martyrs Boris and Gleb. The image has no inscription. On the dome slopes, there are Cherubs. The rectangular painting area on the southern wall of the matroneum holds the painting composition 'Rus accepts Christ's faith', bearing an inscription in the lower part of the border. The painting shows lay people gathered around a teaching monk, standing on the stone doorstep of the shrine, in front of the analogion (lectern) with the Bible on it. There is a pagan idol shattered at his feet. In the background is a panorama of Kiev on the hill. On the opposite wall, there is a painting in a similar frame: "Dear Jesus, be our guest." The scene takes place inside a country cottage. A family gathered around a table, with a loaf of bread and a bowl on it, is turned towards Jesus visiting their house. The profiled balustrade of the choir is decorated with three rectangular paintings. On the central one, there is a pair of Angels bowing down on a cloud, holding a sash with the inscription "Glory to God in the highest." On the south side, there is a depiction titled "St. Olga teaching her grandson Vladimir. " The duchess is sitting on a chair standing under an old oak tree. There is a landscape background with the silhouette of the palace. The saint is holding an open book on her knees. In front of her, we can see a kneeling boy – St. Vladimir. Nearby, there is a stone obelisk topped with a cross, and a broken pagan god next to it. The depiction on the northern side of the choir balustrade, based on the Gospel Parable of the Sower (Matthew 13:1-23, Mark 4:1-20, and Luke 8:4-15), is rooted in local realities. A man in traditional regional clothing is sowing seed that fall on rocky ground with little soil, on soil which contains thorns, on the path (wayside) with no soil, and on good soil. Some seed is devoured by birds. Behind the farmer's back, there is a plow and a pair of resting oxen. In the background, there is a mountainous landscape with some outbuildings. On the wing of the door leading to the choir, there is a three-armed cross with a sloping footrest. The ceiling above the nave shows a dove, a symbol of the Holy Spirit, in radiant glory. On the slopes of the "cut" dome, above the pendentives, there are depictions of Evangelists in oval medallions; they are shown in a half-length, ¾ profile; they are writing books and holding their attributes (in the form of a tetramorph – a symbolic arrangement of four faces): Saint Matthew and the Angel, Saint Mark and the Lion, Saint Lucas and the Bull (Ox), Saint John and the Eagle. The other four slopes of the dome have trapezoidal paintings covering their surface in full. On the southern slope: "Jesus in the House of Martha and Mary" (Luke 10:38-42). The scene takes place in a spacious interior with a large window, with a view of a mountain landscape. Christ is sitting at a table covered with a white tablecloth. There is a pitcher and fish on a platter in front of him. Mary is kneeling at the Savior's feet and listening to his words. Martha is standing by a stove with a burning hearth and cauldron, turned towards her sister in a gesture of admonition. On the western slope: "Jesus and His Disciples on the Road to Emmaus" (Luke 24:13-32). Against the landscape background, near the rocks, we see Jesus showing himself to two wandering disciples who are deep in conversation. In the background, there is a gate and city walls. The depiction on the northern slope of the dome: "Three Magi on their way to Bethlehem", shows figures against a landscape background, guided at night by the light of the Bethlehem star. On the east slope of the dome, there is a landscape with high hills and Jerusalem in the background – it serves as a background for the silhouette icon of the Crucifixion crowning the iconostasis. In the center of the southern wall of the nave, in the space between the windows, we can see a rectangular painting of the Good Samaritan (Luke 10:30-37). In the foreground, on the edge of the road, there is a Samaritan leaning over a lying, robbed and beaten man. Behind him, we can see a donkey with a blanket on its back. In the background, there is an indifferent Levite walking away. We can see a mountainous landscape with numerous palm trees. The painting of Flight into Egypt (Matthew 2:13-15) is located on the opposite wall of the nave in the same way. It shows Mary with the baby on a donkey, led by St. Joseph. The Holy Family is going through a vast desert with few traces of any flora. The low sun behind them is casting long shadows towards the viewer. The paintings in the nave are complemented by two silhouette images on trompe l'oeil ornamental consoles, located opposite each other on the southern and northern wall (from the west side). On the south wall, we can see St. Helena the Empress (it is a frontal depiction) with Christ’s cross on her right shoulder. She is dressed in a simple, long, bright red dress and a travel coat with a hood fastened under her neck (green coat with lighter lining). She is wearing a crown. On the northern wall, there is St. Emperor Constantine the Great, shown frontally in a light, soldier's outfit. He is dressed in a knee-length white tunic, a large red coat, and high leather boots. He is wearing a crown as well. In his right hand, the monarch is holding a flagpole with a winning blue banner with a cross sign. On the ceiling of the sanctuary, there is a tondo painting of the Holy Trinity. Christ and God the Father are sitting on a throne on the cloud with a blue globe at their feet. Christ is in a purple cloak, holding a tall cross in his right hand, pointing to the globe with his left hand. God the Father is depicted as a gray-haired old man in a blue tunic and a yellow (golden) cloak, with a scepter in his left hand, raising his right hand in a gesture of blessing. Above them, we can see a white dove on a cloud, in radiant glory – a symbol of the Holy Spirit. The majesty of the Trinity is being worshiped by the heavenly hosts embodied by eight angels kneeling on the clouds. Each of them is shown separately on the dome of the sanctuary. All the walls of the sanctuary are covered by architectural and trompe l'oeil painting with two rectangular painting areas. On the northern wall of the sanctuary, there is a painting of Saints Anthony and Theodosius of Kiev – founders of monasticism in Rus, who are shown in full length and slightly turned towards each other. St. Anthony is in a monastic habit, raising his right hand in a gesture of blessing. St. Theodosius is wearing liturgical vestments, holding the icon of the Dormition of the Mother of God – patron of the Church of the Caves Monastery. There is a landscape background. On the south wall, we can see a painting of Cyril and Methodius – the Apostles to the Slavs, frontal depiction, in full length. St. Cyril is in a monastic habit, giving his blessing with his right hand and holding a scroll with the Cyrillic alphabet in his left hand. St. Methodius is wearing a bishop’s vestment and holding a chalice in his left hand. In his right hand, he has a tall three-armed cross with a slanting footrest. There is a landscape background.

The painting form in the figural compositions is shaped in a realistic way, full of expression, with clear relationships between the presented figures. Glazes are applied with wide, sure brush strokes, with a varied value of local color, giving the impression of a strong and spot-like external light source. The faces of the figures have individual portrait features. Ornamental and symbolic elements were influenced by the aesthetics of modernism. Stylistic features characterize the painter's workshop with great skills when it comes to technique and composition (despite the use of ready-made graphic designs). This type of painting stands out by embedding several biblical and allegorical scenes in the local realities of the turn of the 19th and 20th centuries (everyday countryside life, clothing, family and landscape), which serves as a valuable ethnographic and ethnological source.
The iconostasis was made at the beginning of the 19th century for the Orthodox Church of Michael the Archangel in Turzańsk. It has an original, rare structure, with two side altars serving as an extension of the iconostasis and housing the outer sovereign icons (on the southern side, the icon of the patronal saints of the church with the image of Michael the Archangel). The icons and the frames of the iconostasis and side altars were repainted in 1898 (by Josyf Bukowczyk). The sovereign icons of the Theotokos Hodegetria and Christ Pantocrator (flanking the Royal Doors) and 12 feast icons (stolen) were replaced with paintings created in 1982.
It is a framework, multi-zone iconostasis with an axial composition and a rich, woodcarving division of the plane. The icons are in contemporary frames (with some exceptions). The divisions in individual rows have an architectural form and correspond to each other. The (full and openwork) woodcarving detail is dominated by classicist and French Regency forms. There is a monochrome frame – light gray and blue (it might have been dark green initially, like the southern side altar / post-restoration), with gold-plated and silver-plated woodcarving. The elevated entablature over the central Deesis painting highlights the vertical axis of the composition. The horizontal cornices between the rows are broken above the columns and pilasters. Painting niches are framed with profiled, gilded slats, flanked with columns (Deesis row), pilasters (sovereign row), and consoles (icons of Great Feasts). The predellas are in the form of an architectural pedestal. The Royal and Deacons’ Doors are crowned with arches. Above the Royal Doors, there is a wide, octagonal icon of the Last Supper. Niches for the icons of the Apostles of Deesis (a pair of figures on each of the 6 icons) are closed with a double arch. The row of Prophets consists of oval cartouches in an openwork, woodcarving frame, arranged in two groups of three cartouches, flanking the silhouette icon of the Crucifixion with the figures of the Mother of God and John the Evangelist at the cross.

The icons are made using the tempera technique and oil on wooden canvas (on a chalky and glue primer), and oil on canvas (later glued directly to a wooden canvas/panel). The row of sovereign icons consists of half-length images of: the Theotokos Hodegetria (1982). The openwork Royal Doors have a floral ornament motif and are gilded and silver-plated (repainted). Above the central column, we can see a cross on a sphere. There is a pair of Deacons’ Doors with an openwork door gate and an asymmetrical volute in the finial (repainted). In the row of the Great Feasts, we have contemporary paintings inside antique frames. An archival photo from 1968 shows 8 out of 12 original prazdniki and the Last Supper: (from the north): Christmas, Epiphany (the Baptism of Christ), Presentation of Jesus at the Temple, the Transfiguration, Last Supper, Entry into Jerusalem, Resurrection, Ascension of Christ, Pentecost, and four empty painting niches. Above the Prazdniki, we can find the Deesis series with a separate, central image of Christ seated on a throne, dressed in High Priest robes. There are six depictions of the Apostles (12 figures) with attributes, facing Christ on the throne. The central, crowning, icon shows the silhouette Crucifixion, flanked by cartouches with the icons of Prophets, composed of six oval cartouches in an openwork woodcarving frame (in 2 groups of 3 cartouches each). Each of the cartouches has two bust figures, shown in 3/4 profile, with attributes.

Both side altars are in the form of high, four-zone, axial retables, which are richly fragmented, with a style reminiscent of an iconostasis. The predellas are in the form of an altar stone. The southern side altar is restored, uses original colors and the popular techniques of gilding and silvering of the woodcarving detail. It holds icons (layer from the beginning of the 19th century) made using the tempera technique and oil on wooden boards. In the predellas zone, there is an ornamental painting with a vase of flowers in the center (repainted before conservation, it showed a figurative composition made by Bukowczyk in 1898 – Melchizedek welcoming Abraham on his return after his victory); above, there is the main icon of the side altar – Michael the Archangel. Above the main icon, we can see the icon of Saint John Chrysostom (repainted before restoration, Mandylion made by Bukowczyk in 1898). In the finial, there is a painted cartouche with the Eye of Providence. In the predellas zone of the northern side altar, stylistically similar to the southern one, we have a painting from 1898 made by J. Bukowczyk – Binding of Isaac (with an ornamental painting underneath that is analogous to the one in the southern side altar); above, there is the main icon of the side altar – the Eleusa. Above the main icon, we can see the icon of the Nativity of Mary. In the finial, there is a cartouche with a relief Marian monogram.

Additional illustrations with captions:

1. Composition diagram showing the arrangement of wall paintings inside the temple. Edited by Jarosław Giemza.
2. Icon of St. Jude the Apostle from the Deesis series of the iconostasis made after 1803, repainted by Josif Bukowczyk in 1898. Photographs in white and X-ray light. The original painting layer visible on X-ray photography: image of St. Jude the Apostle with the image of Christ in his right hand (a reference to the apocrypha about the Mandylion and the role of the Apostle in bringing it to King Abgar). The painting from 1898 shows Jude the Apostle leaning on a club (symbolizing the way in which he was killed). Photography by Piotr Frączek.
